APR 0 3 2015

No. 330834

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF AIRWAY HEIGHTS and BRIGITTA ARCHER,

Respondents,

VS.

SPOKANE COUNTY, CITY OF SPOKANE, SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD, CITY OF AIRWAY HEIGHTS, and EASTERN WASHINGTON GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD,

Appellants.

JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLANTS CITY OF SPOKANE, COUNTY OF SPOKANE & SPOKANE AIRPORT BOARD

CITY OF SPOKANE
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY
NANCY L. ISSERLIS, City Attorney
JAMES A. RICHMAN,
Asst. City Attorney
W. 808 Spokane Falls Blvd.
City Hall, Suite 550
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 625-6225

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court recently noted in a case involving the same property and very similar issues:

The hearing examiner concluded that the approval of high density residential development on the site would weaken existing protection for the airport and Fairchild AFB, the flying public and future residents, by allowing incompatible development and potential hazards closer to the critical phases of aircraft approach and departure operations; and would jeopardize the future viability of such facilities.

The unchallenged facts establish that the Deer Creek site will be subject to airport noise for the foreseeable future and that the noise impact zones for FAFB expand and contract as the mission of FAFB changes. Findings of fact also establish that a multifamily development on the Deer Creek site would adversely impact the layout, length, and orientation of a proposed runway for SIA and will jeopardize current and future SIA operations.

The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) expressed concern that the proposed development would be located within the "area of influence" of two major airports and a potential cumulative noise impact area for both airports.... According to the FAA, "permitting high density residential uses, or high concentrations of residential use, within the vicinity of the airport weakens the existing protection for the airport, the flying public and future residents; by allowing incompatible development and potential hazards closer to the critical phases of aircraft approach and departure operations." The FAA also contended that these actions "would violate written assurances and contractual commitments given by the City and County... to the federal government to protect the airport [and] could jeopardize the receipt of future federal grants."

Based on the unchallenged findings, there are sufficient facts to support the hearing examiner's conclusion that the conditional use would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general welfare.

Deer Creek Developers, LLC v. Spokane County, 157 Wn. App. 1, 17, 236 P.3d 906 (2010). Aside from Airway Heights' annexation of the property and the city's subsequent amendment of its development regulations to allow high density residential development on the property, the facts establishing the incompatibility of such development on the property have not changed since the *Deer Creek* case. In fact, several local communities, including Airway Heights, recently participated in the Fairchild Joint Land Use Study ("Fairchild JLUS") funded by the Department of Defense ("DOD"). That study notes:

One particular development of concern approved prior to the [County's] moratorium is the Deer Creek Apartment complex (Factor 1A) located south of US Highway 2 to the east of Airway Heights... Development within Fairchild's critical operations area will limit the ability of the installation to adapt to new missions, to support new/different aircraft, and could jeopardize its long-term viability... The growth occurring within this area will continue to create compatibility concerns for Fairchild AFB unless a coordinated planning approach is taken.

Despite this Court's decision in the *Deer Creek* case and a subsequent DOD funded study finding that the Deer Creek Apartments are incompatible with Fairchild's mission and will limit the base's ability to

adapt to new missions following its annexation of the property, Airway Heights adopted ordinances that pave the way for the apartment project disapproved by this Court in the *Deer Creek* case and highlighted with concern in the Fairchild JLUS. The City adopted the ordinances over written objections from the Base Commander at Fairchild Air Force Base ("Fairchild") and the Airport Director at Spokane International Airport ("SIA"), which the city disregarded.

Washington law, however, recognizes that military bases are critical to local economies, generating thousands of jobs and millions of dollars in economic activity and tax revenue annually. In past instances, incompatible development like the Deer Creek apartments has been a factor in the curtailment of training operations and restructuring of mission critical components to other bases during the base realignment and closure process. To protect the missions of military bases and the health of the economies and industries that rely on them, encroachment of incompatible development must be addressed through collaboration and joint planning between bases and the local communities, typically through a JLUS process.

The Fairchild JLUS was a collaborative planning effort involving local stakeholders, including the military, to identify compatible land uses

and growth management guidelines near Fairchild. Two of the primary objectives of the Fairchild JLUS were/are (1) to manage development in the vicinity of Fairchild that would interfere with the continued operations of the base, and (2) to preserve the ability of the base to expand or adapt its mission to changing conditions.

By contrast, Airway Heights' ordinances under review in this appeal circumvent the primary objectives of the Fairchild JLUS by authorizing expansion of incompatible development. The ordinances favor poorly planned growth over protecting two of this region's most essential public facilities (and largest employer) from encroachment by incompatible development. In contrast to the region's efforts to protect Fairchild and SIA from incompatible development, the ordinances authorize development that is (1) incompatible with and will interfere with Fairchild's current operations, and (2) will limit the ability of both Fairchild and SIA to expand or adapt to changing conditions. By adopting the ordinances, Airway Heights unilaterally undermined this region's efforts to protect the future of Fairchild and SIA by authorizing approximately 29 acres of high-density residential housing in the area of influence of both major airports, a use that is incompatible with the missions of both airports.

In a thoughtful 37-page decision that is supported by abundant evidence, The Growth Management Hearings Board, Eastern Washington Region (the "Board") invalidated Airway Heights' ordinances, finding that the ordinances substantially interfere with the fulfillment of the goals of the Growth Management Act (the "Act"), and that Airway Heights was out of compliance with the Act. Without explanation, the Spokane County Superior Court reversed the Board's decision. In the instant appeal, however, this Court reviews the Board's decision, not the decision of the Superior Court, and review of the Board's decision is based on the record made before the Board. *King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 553, 14 P.3d 133 (2000).

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Superior Court erred in reversing the Final Decision and Order of the Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board.
- B. The Superior Court erred in affirming the adoption of City of Airway Heights Ordinance Nos. C-797 and C-798.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Washington law says that development regulations should not allow development in the vicinity of a military base that is incompatible

with the base's ability to carry out its mission requirements. Washington law also requires cities, through their land use regulations, to discourage the siting of incompatible land uses adjacent to general aviation airports.

Despite this Court's *Deer Creek* decision, which affirmed a hearing examiner's decision denying an application to build an apartment project on certain land (1) because of concerns about the project's impacts on the operations of Fairchild Air Force Base and (2) because development of the site would jeopardize current and future operations of Spokane International Airport, and despite findings in a Department of Defense funded Joint Land Use Study that additional multi-family residential housing on the site would be incompatible with Fairchild's current and future mission requirements, the City of Airway Heights still adopted ordinances that establish a process for obtaining permits to construct as many as 580 new residential apartments on the site (nearly quadrupling the number of apartments in phase one of the Deer Creek Apartments).

The Growth Management Hearings Board for Eastern Washington, which is charged with adjudicating compliance with the Growth Management Act and, when necessary, with invalidating noncompliant development regulations, invalidated the ordinances, finding that there was

clear, substantial, and compelling evidence that the ordinances violated several provisions of the GMA.

Without explanation, the Spokane County Superior Court reversed the Board's decision. The issue in this appeal is whether the Board properly invalidated Airway Heights' ordinances, and whether the Superior Court appeal erred in reversing the Board. Spokane requests that this Court find that the Board's decision was correct in all respects.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Ordinances.

On August 5, 2013, the City of Airway Heights ("Airway Heights") adopted Ordinance Nos. C-797 and C-798 (the "Ordinances"). AR 286-308. The Ordinances amended the City's zoning regulations and maps to authorize the development of approximately 29 acres¹ of additional multi-family residential housing near Airway Heights' southeastern boundary (the "Property"). AR² 286-308.

¹ The Ordinances authorize a density of 10-20 units per acre, potentially accommodating as many as 580 new apartments in this sensitive area. AR 13.

² AR refers to the Administrative Record that the Growth Management Hearings Board certified and filed with the Superior Court.

B. The Deer Creek Apartment Project.

Previously, and prior to Airway Heights' annexation of the Property,³ the Spokane County Hearing Examiner denied an application for phase two⁴ of a residential apartment project on a portion of the Property (hereinafter "Deer Creek Apartments"). AR 309-333.⁵ Prior to the Deer Creek Apartments decision, the Hearing Examiner received comments from several agencies, including Fairchild:

1. Department of the Air Force:

Based on the 1995 Fairchild AFB Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study, the subject property is located in the 65-70 Ldn Noise Zone. Based on Fairchild's 2007 AICUZ study, the property is now outside the 65 Ldn contour line. This demonstrates that noise zones expand and contract as the mission changes at Fairchild AFB. Unfortunately, we cannot predict Fairchild's future noise zones; however, we do know that the subject property will be susceptible to aircraft noise for the foreseeable future. Therefore, we do not recommend the construction of additional apartments in this area.

AR 370-71.

³ Airway Heights annexed the Property in 2012, pursuant to an Interlocal Agreement between Airway Heights and the City and County of Spokane. AR 344-369.

⁴ Phase one consists of 156 multi-family dwellings. AR 309.

The Deer Creek Apartment development lies within the boundaries of the Property involved in this case. Phase 1 of Deer Creek was permitted due to an error in the County's zoning code which was corrected before the developer applied for Phase 2. A detailed history of zoning on the Property prior to Airway Heights' annexation is set forth in the Hearing Examiner's decision. AR 309-333.

2. Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA"):

[W]e consider the proposed apartment complex as an incompatible land use, because it is located within the "area of influence" of two major airports, and located in a potential cumulative noise impact area.

. . . .

As you are already aware, aircraft approaching either/both Spokane International Airport's future Runway 23 and Fairchild Air Force Base could be expected to fly over high-density residential development in this area at low altitudes in accordance with standard operating procedures, and in significant numbers. The proposed residential area could be subjected to considerable "single-event" noise impacts from aircraft over flight. These types of noise impacts are particularly annoying at nighttime, when residents are trying to sleep. Significant noise can also be expected from aircraft taking-off on proposed Runway 5-23, potentially over areas with large concentrations of people/residential areas.

In addition, there would also be visual (perceptual) impacts from aircraft operating into and out of the airport. While current operations are acceptable over the presently largely vacant land, it would be disconcerting to many people on the ground in this area of proposed residential development, due to a perceived hazard of low-flying aircraft.

That is one of the main reasons that residential developments, with large concentrations of people, are strongly discouraged under airport traffic pattern areas — "area of influence". Although the frequency of aircraft accidents is comparatively very low, the numbers of aircraft using the concentrated airspace of airport approach areas, together with the complexities of take-off and landing operations during various weather conditions, does mean that accidents are proportionately higher in those areas than in other locations further away from the airport.

Permitting high density residential uses weakens existing protection for the airport, the flying public, and the future residents by allowing <u>incompatible development</u> and potential hazards closer to the critical phases of aircraft approach and departure operations. (Emphasis supplied.)

AR 372-75.

3. Greater Spokane Incorporated:

As Washington State's designated agent for economic development in Spokane County, we actively monitor and engage to provide comments for land use issues for our region and we pay particular attention to those that present potential issues for our two major flying installations.

Fairchild Air Force Base and Spokane International Airport are critical assets for the economic growth of our region. Fairchild is our largest employer and represents an economic impact approaching \$1 billion for our community. Spokane International Airport, too, is vital [to] our region and, perhaps, the single most important asset for continued economic growth. Both operations must be protected and strategically managed to ensure optimum flexibility in operations today and going forward.

We are greatly concerned that isolated decisions, such as the one under consideration, are being made without adequate consideration of long term impacts. Just as was noted by Fairchild Air Force Base in their previously delivered comments, we believe this property "will be susceptible to aircraft noise for the foreseeable future." We also concur with Spokane International Airport, who has repeatedly voiced concern about the impact this project will have on both its current and future operations. . . . The FAA, too, has provided strong language citing its opinion that this project is "incompatible land use."

We have seen too many examples of where the Air Force has curtailed flying operations at other bases simply due to volume of noise complaints from the community. For that reason, encroachment of residential development around flying operations is viewed by base closure and realignment commissions as a principal factor when considering closure of a facility.

We believe that allowing this <u>incompatible</u> use to proceed will create a precedent that will significantly complicate future actions to prevent encroachment. Fairchild Air Force base and Spokane International Airport are simply too important to allow them to be "boxed in." (Emphasis supplied.) AR 376.

4. Hearing Examiner and Court of Appeals:

Based on these and other comments, the hearing examiner stated the following in denying phase 2 of the Deer Creek Apartments:

As indicated by the FAA, Spokane International Airport, WSDOT-Aviation, the City of Spokane, and Greater Spokane Incorporated; and by the Board of County Commissioners in its recent amendments to the LI zone; the approval of high density residential development on the site would weaken existing protection for the airport and Fairchild AFB, the flying public and future residents, by allowing incompatible development and potential hazards closer to the critical phases of aircraft approach and departure operations; and would jeopardize the future viability of such facilities. . . . The application, even as conditioned [with sound attenuation mitigation required], is generally not compatible with other permitted uses in the area, and will be materially detrimental to the public welfare; and should be denied . . . (Emphasis supplied.)

AR 332.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the hearing examiner:

The unchallenged facts establish that the Deer Creek site will be subject to airport noise for the foreseeable future and that the noise impact zones for FAFB expand and contract as the mission of FAFB changes. Findings of fact also establish that a multifamily development on the Deer Creek site would adversely impact the layout, length, and orientation of a proposed runway for SIA and will jeopardize current and future SIA operations.

. . . .

According to the FAA, "permitting high density residential uses, or high concentrations of residential use, within the vicinity of the airport weakens the existing protection for the airport, the flying public and future residents; by allowing incompatible development and potential hazards closer to the critical phases of aircraft approach and departure operations."...

Based on the unchallenged findings, there are sufficient facts to support the hearing examiner's conclusion that the conditional use would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general welfare. (Emphasis supplied.)

Deer Creek Developers, LLC v. Spokane County, 157 Wn. App. 1, 17, 236 P.3d 906 (2010); AR 334.

C. The Fairchild JLUS.

1. Purpose.

While the Deer Creek Apartments case was making its way through the courts, Airway Heights (along with Fairchild, SIA, and the City and County of Spokane) participated in the development of the Fairchild JLUS. AR 377-645.

A JLUS is a collaborative planning effort involving local communities, federal officials, residents, business owners, and the military to identify compatible land uses and growth management guidelines near active military installations, such as Fairchild AFB. The program establishes a mechanism for Fairchild AFB and the local jurisdictions to act as a team to prevent incompatible land uses. A JLUS is implemented, essentially, to protect the residents' quality of life, the property owners' rights, and the current and future mission of the base. . . . The goal of the Fairchild JLUS is to protect the viability of the current and future missions at Fairchild AFB while at the same time accommodating growth, sustaining the economic health of the region, and protecting the public health and safety. (Emphasis supplied.)

AR 417.

2. <u>Noise Modeling</u>.

The Fairchild JLUS identifies "aircraft noise [a]s the primary concern relative to compatibility planning." AR 518.

The analysis of airborne noise varies based on the type of aircraft modeled, flight operations, training activities, flight frequency, and other aircraft using the airspace.

AR 518.

Differences in assumptions based on current mission factors, changes in aircraft type, and technical characteristics of the model have profound implications to the resulting noise contours. Much emphasis is placed on the delineation of these contours and land use policies or decisions are often based on the assumptions presented by these contours. AICUZ studies represent current conditions, should conditions change, a new AICUZ would have to be

prepared. As a result, specific land use decisions should not be based solely on AICUZ boundaries.

As a component of this JLUS, a study was conducted to assess potential noise related to four future mission scenarios. . . For each scenario, the operations at Fairchild AFB were combined with the 20-year operations forecast for SIA to provide an overall perspective on the effect of all aircraft operations within the region. For purposes of this analysis, the scenarios assumed operations at a new third runway at SIA.

. . . .

The noise modeling indicated that the scenarios including the KC-767 (Scenarios 1 and 3) would have a slightly larger noise signature than those including the A330 aircraft. To ensure Fairchild's . . . potential future aircraft and missions were properly reflected in this study, the JPSC decided to use Scenarios 3 as the basis for JLUS strategies development. (Emphasis supplied.)

AR 519.

3. Compatibility.

The Fairchild JLUS portrays the Deer Creek Apartments as the poster child of the type of development JLUS intends to prevent. Indeed, a photograph of phase 1 of the Deer Creek Apartments appears on the cover page of the "Compatibility" chapter of the Fairchild JLUS. AR 461.

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