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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standards Of Review 

This Court directly review's the Board's Decision pursuant to the 

standards set forth in the APA. RCW 36.70A.300(5); City qf Redmond, 

supra, 136 Wn.2d at 45. Relevant here, the APA directs that this court 

shall grant relief from the Board's decision if the court determines the 

Board has erroneously interpreted or applied the law, the decision is not 

supported by the substantial evidence when view in light of the entire 

record or the decision is arbitrary and capricious. RCW 34.05.570(3). 

The question of whether an agency has erroneously interpreted or 

applied the law is reviewed de novo. Honesty in Environmental Analysis 

and Legislation (HEAL) v. Central Puget Sound Growth Management 

l-!earings Bd., 96 Wn. App. 522, 979 P.2d 864 (1999); City of Redmond, 
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supra. Courts review an agency's statutory interpretations under the error 

of law standard, "which allows an appellate court to substitute its own 

interpretation of the statute or regulation for the [agency's] interpretation." 

Seattle Area Plumbers v. Washington State Apprenticeship and Training 

Council, 131 Wn. App. 862, 871, 129 P .3d 838 (2006), quoting, Cobra 

Roofing v. Dept. o.lLabor & Industries, 122 Wn. App. 402, 409, 97 P.3d 

17 (2004). While courts will accord deference to the Board's interpretation 

of the GMA, they retain the ultimate authority to interpret a statute and are 

not bound by the Board's interpretation of the GMA. Yakima County v. 

Eastern Washington Growth Management Flearings Board, 168 Wn. App. 

680,687,279 P.3d 434 (2012); City o.lRedmond, supra, 136 Wn.2d at 46. 

Courts "will not defer to an agency determination which conflicts with the 

statute. Waste Management of Seattle v. Utilities and Transportation 

Comm 'n, 123 Wn.2d 621, 628, 869 P .2d 1034 (1994). See also, Cowiche 

Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801 815, 828 P.2d 549 

(1992). A decision is arbitrary and capricious if there is willful and 

unreasoned action, taken without regard to or consideration of the 

surrounding facts and circumstances. City o.l Redmond, 136 Wn.2d at 46. 

Beyond the standards of review set forth in AP A, evaluation of the 

Board's decision also requires an understanding those review standards 
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that the GMA mandated the Board to apply to the underlying challenge to 

Airway Heights legislative action. 

Of course, the GMA establishes a framework within which a city 

must perform its cOlnprehensive planning. The GMA articulates certain 

goals, with no particular order of priority and some of which are 

conflicting, that a city must consider and then balance in its discretion and 

in light of specific local circumstances. (See RCW 36.70A.020.) It also 

sets forth policies guidelines to in1plement using the city's discretion. In 

recognition of the fact that the balancing contemplated by the GMA is 

highly discretionary, the GMA provides that local plans and development 

regulations are presumed valid on adoption. RCW 36. 70A.320(1). Thus, 

before the Board, the burden was on Spokane, Spokane County and the 

SIA to overcome that presumption, RCW 36.70A.320(2), and the burden 

was high. In adjudicating a challenge, the Board must find compliance 

unless a city's action is clearly erroneous. Olympic Stewardship 

Foundation v. Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Bd., 

166 Wn. App. 172, 186-187,274 P.3d 1040 (2012). 

In assessing compliance, the Board is directed to give deference to 

a city's discretion to balance competing goals and local needs: 

The legislature intends that the board applies a more 
deferential standard of review to actions of counties 
and cities than the preponderance of the evidence 
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standard provided for under eXIstlng law. In 
recognition of the broad range of discretion that may 
be exercised by counties and cities consistent with 
the requirements of this chapter, the legislature 
intends for the board to grant deference to counties 
and cities in how they plan for growth, consistent 
with the requiren1ents and goals of this chapter. Local 
comprehensive plans and development regulations 
require counties and cities to balance priorities and 
options for action in full consideration of local 
circumstances. The legislature finds that while this 
chapter requires local planning to take place within a 
framework of state goals and requirelnents, the 
ultimate burden and responsibility for planning, 
harmonizing the planning goals of this chapter, and 
implementing a county's or city's future rests with 
that community. 

RCW 36.70A.3201. 

B. The Board Failed To Address The Issue Of "Compatibility" In 
The Context Of Infill Development, And, Contrary To The 
GMA Directive Failed To Give Deference To Airway Heights' 
Discretionary Legislative Action. 

It was error for the Board to interfere with Airway Heights' 

legislative discretion and invalidate the ordinances based upon the 

conclusory and speculative comment letters. The Board was required 

under the GMA to defer to Airway Heights' legislative discretion and 

presume that its legislative action was valid. RCW 36.70A.320(1); .3201. 

Archer does not argue that the legislatively mandated deference serves to 

inoculate Airway Heights' legislative action from review; but the review 

lllust nonetheless be deferential and a finding of noncompliance must be 

supported by more than speculative and unsubstantiated COlnments. 
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Here, the Board afforded no deference to Airway Heights' 

legislative discretion, but instead effectively accorded the operators and 

advocates of FAFB and SIA veto power. Under the Board's approach, 

these agencies need do no lnore than provide comment letters - and 

regardless of their speculative nature and regardless of their failure to 

address the realities of existing conditions and the effectiveness of the 

actual standards adopted, Airway Heights has no choice but to surrender to 

their unsubstantiated concerns. The Board's decision to defer to the 

comments letters contravenes the legislatively mandated deference to the 

local legislative authority set forth in RCW 36.70A.320; .3201. See also 

Kittitas Count v. Eastern Washington Growth Management J-fearings 

Board, 172 Wn.2d 144, 174-75,256 P.3d 1193 (2011). 

Likewise, both the Board and appellants fail to acknowledge and 

address the protections afforded F AFB and SIA through the conditional 

use pennit process that is mandatory under the ordinances. Scrutiny for 

incompatibility of potential additional residential development does not 

and did not end with the adoption of the ordinances. If there exists 

quantifiable or substantiated evidence that additional infill development 

cannot be adequately mitigated to be compatible with F AFB and SIA, 

appellants hold the absolute right to present such evidence to the Hearing 

Examiner if and when the property owners submit a conditional use permit 
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application. For purposes of review of Airway Heights' legislative action, 

however, the Board should have presumed, as it has admonished in other 

cases, that future government actions under the ordinances (in this case 

Hearing Examiner decisions) will be taken in good faith and in 

compliance with the adopted standards. Franz v. Whatcom County 

Council, 2005 WL 2458412, WWGMHB Case No. 05-2-011 (Final 

Decision and Order ("FDO"), September 19, 2005) (Addressing mineral 

resource lands designation authorizing mining only upon issuance of 

conditional use permit and holding "[t]here is no reason to believe that 

Whatcom County will not utilize all tools in the comprehensive plan, 

development regulations, zoning code, and its Critical Areas Ordinance to 

permit and monitor any mining operations with this designation"); Central 

Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority v. City of Tukwila, 199 WL 

33100213m WWGMHB Case No. 99-3-0003 (FDO, September 15,1999) 

("the Board cannot assume the City will elect to act unlawfully"). 

Unfortunately, the Board did not do so and instead made a decision based 

upon generalized expressions of concern without consideration of Airway 

Heights' adopted standards and without appropriate consideration of the 

existing conditions of the area. 

This Court should review the comment letters relied upon by the 

Board and appellants in context. The comments must be reviewed in light 
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of existing conditions, in recognition of the fact that the Court is 

addressing a legislative act and, finally, in the context of the actual 

standards set forth in the GMA and discussed below. When reviewed in 

this proper context, it is clear that the Board's decision is not supported by 

evidence or the law. Like the trial court, this Court should reverse the 

Board's Decision and Airway Heights' ordinances should be reinstated. 

C. The Board Erroneously Concluded That Allowing Limited 
Potential Infill Residential Development Pursuant To A 
Conditional Use Permit Is Incompatible With Fairchild AFB's 
Ability To Carry Out Its Mission. 

Relevant to this appeal, the GMA provides the following with 

respect to planning actions that will affect military installations at RCW 

36.70A.530: 

(l) Military Installations are of particular importance 
to the economic health of the state of Washington and 
it is a priority of the state to protect the land 
surrounding our nlilitary installations form 
incompatible development. 

*** 
(3) A comprehensive plan, amendment to a plan, a 
develop regulations or amendlnent to a development 
regulation should not allow development in the 
vicinity of a military installation that is incompatible 
with the installation's ability to carry out its mission 
requirements. 

(4) As part of the requirements of RCW 
36.70A.070(1) each county and city planning under 
RCW 36.70A.040 that has a federal military 
installation, other than a reserve center, that employs 
one hundred or more personnel and is operated by the 
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United States department of defense within or 
adjacent to its border, shall notify the commander of 
the military installation of the county's or city's intent 
to amend its comprehensive plan or development 
regulations to address lands adjacent to military 
installations to ensure those lands are protected from 
incompatible development. (Emphasis added.) 

The Board did not conclude that Airway Heights failed to notify, 

request and provide opportunity for COlnment from F AFB regarding its 

intent to adopt Ordinances C-797 and C-798. It did, however, conclude 

that the potential developlnent authorized by these ordinances was 

"incompatible with the installation's ability to carry out its mission 

requirements." To reach this conclusion, the Board relied upon the 

definition of incompatible as set forth in the Annexation Agreement and 

unsubstantiated agency comlnent letters comprised of conclusory and 

speculative statements that did not specifically address impacts related to 

limited infill development. 

1. The Board failed to independently interpret the GMA, 
but instead improperly deferred to an interlocal pre
annexation agreement that was later superseded. 

The term "incompatible" is not defined in the GMA. Of course, in 

the context of the RCW 36.70A.530, the tern1 must be applied as to the 

military installation's "ability to carry out its mission requirements." 

The Board borrowed from the Annexation Agreement to define the 

terms and stated that "[t]he term 'incompatible development' means 
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permitted land uses that are inconsistent with the Fairchild Air Force Base 

Joint Land Use Study." (AR 1757-58.) Notably, Board only borrowed 

frOlTI a portion of the definition agreed to in the Annexation Agreen1ent. 

The Annexation Agreement provided: 

The term "incon1patible development" means 
permitted land uses that are inconsistent with the 
Fairchild Air Force Base Joint Land Use Study 
("JLUS"), WSDOT Aviation Division Regulations, 
FAA Regulations, state statutes or regulations. 

(AR 352.) Consideration of the applicable Federal regulations is critical to 

determining whether development is, indeed, "incOlTIpatible," and Airway 

Heights heavily incorporated Federal standards into its ordinances. 

Regardless, reference to the Annexation Agreement for purposes 

of determining compliance with the GMA was in appropriate. First, the 

Annexation Agreement in this regard was superseded by the 

Memorandum of Understanding, which fully acknowledged that deviation 

from the JLUS recommendations was necessary to avoid unduly 

burdensome impacts to Airway Heights and its citizenry. (AR 1121.) The 

unappealed JLUS standards Airway Heights adopted in December 2012, 

with the full support of Spokane, Spokane County and SIA, demonstrates 

that mere deviation from the JLUS recommendations does not equate to 

"incompatible development." 

Moreover, the Board does not have jurisdiction to enforce 
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interlocal agreelnents, which is effectively what it did here. "Unless a 

petition alleges that a comprehensive plan or a development regulation (or 

an1endments to either) is not in compliance with the requirements of the 

GMA, the Board does not have jurisdiction to hear the petition." City 0/ 

Burien v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hrgs Bd., 113 Wn. App. 

375, 384, 53 P.3d 1028 (2002) (citing Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. 

Chelan County, 141 Wash.2d 169, 178, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)) (upholding 

Board's decision that it had no authority to review interlocal agreement); 

see also Spokane County v. City o/Spokane, 148 Wn. App. 120, 107 P.3d 

1228 (2009) (holding that Hearings Board exceeded its statutory authority 

in reviewing the lack of a joint planning agreement between the City and 

County, since interlocal agreements are not GMA actions. 

Finally, if the JLUS is applied as having regulatory effect upon 

Airway Heights such that no deviation is allowed, its citizens, including 

Archer, were deprived due process of law. The GMA sets forth strict 

citizen participation requirements that require notice to affected property 

owners and the right to participate, comment and be heard. See RCW 

36.70A.140. The planning process is not exclusively about FAFB and the 

SIA. Archer, as a property owner, also has rights, and those rights are 

acknowledged in the GMA planning goals. RCW 36.70A.020(6). The 

Board's rigid application of the JLUS as creating binding standards from 
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which there may be no deviation was in error and without legal support. 

Airways Heights did deviate, moderately, from the JLUS. But it 

did so based upon evidence that the developlnent will not be incompatible 

with the respective missions of F AFB and SIA and with appropriate 

safeguards to ensure these facilities are appropriately protected. The 

Board's decision, however, was not supported by evidence or the GMA. 

2. The Board improperly gave deference to 
unsubstantiated and unquantified comments submitted 
by the Fairchild AFB Commander and a prior site
specific land use decision issued under different 
circumstances. 

Beyond the Annexation Agreement, the Board also relied heavily 

upon comments submitted by the Base Comn1ander, both in relation to the 

proposed ordinances, in in 2008 in relation to a specific permit application 

to expand a nonconforming use. 

Notably, though it mandates notification when promulgating 

regulations for lands adjacent to military instal1ations,17 section 530 of the 

17 It should be noted that, with respect to C-797 and C-798, Airway Heights was not 
required under RCW 37.70A.530 to notify and request comment from the AFB 
commander. While RCW 36.70A.530(4) and (5)(b) does impose a mandatory notice 
requirement in certain circumstances, it is only mandatory when the city intends to 
promulgate regulations "on lands adjacent to military installations," The approximately 
30 acres affected by these Ordinances is not "adjacent to" the Fairchild AFB. In fact, the 
property is well outside the boundaries of the Fairchild Accident Protection Zone 
("APZ"), is also outside the 65 LdN contour line as set by the 2007 AICUZ study. (See 
AR 646-51,652-54,475.) 

Though Archer is not aware of case law interpreting the phrase "adjacent to" in the 
context of RCW 36.70A.530, the phrase as used in other GMA provisions has repeatedly 
construed to mean that the subject property shares a boundary with the other property in 
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GMA does not n1andate that all recomn1endations from the comn1ander 

made pursuant to such requisite notification be implemented wholesale. It 

does, however, provide substantive guidance, advising that a city "should 

not ... allow development ... in the vicinity of a Inilitary installation that 

is incon1patible with the installation's ability to carry out its mission 

requiren1ents." RCW 36.70A.530(2) (emphasis added). Use of the word 

"should" rather than "shall" indicates that the direction is advisory, not 

n1andatory.18 See Spokane County v. City of Spokane, 148 Wn. App. 120, 

130, 197 P .3d 1228 (2009) (holding the word "should" as used in RCW

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